
















 

 

MICHIGAN BUREAU  OF ELECTIONS 
R ICHARD H.  AUSTIN BUILDING ●  1ST FLOOR  ●  430  W. ALLEGAN ●  LANSING,  MICHIGAN 48918 

M i chigan .gov /E lec t i ons  ●  ( 517)  335-3234 

February 6, 2023 

Moving Macomb Forward 

12856 Belle River Road 

Memphis, MI 48041       

 

Re: Schonert v Moving Macomb Forward  

Campaign Finance Complaint No. 23-006 

 

Dear Moving Macomb Forward:  

 

The Department of State (Department) has received a formal complaint filed against you by 

Matthew Schonert alleging that you violated the Michigan Campaign Finance Act (MCFA or 

Act). Specifically, the complaint alleges that you either sent elections materials out from a 

dissolved committee or that you failed to form a committee. Regardless of the circumstances, the 

complaint alleges that you then failed to file the required campaign finance reports required of a 

committee. A copy of the complaint is included with this notice. 

 

Section 24 requires committees to file a statement of organization with the proper filing official 
within 10 days after the committee is formed. MCL 169.224(1). Section 24 details specific 
requirements for all statements of organization that must be filed. See MCL 169.224(2)-(3). A 
person who fails to file a timely statement is subject to a civil fine of up to $1,000. MCL 
169.221(13). A person who fails to file a statement of organization shall pay a late filing fee of 
$10.00 per business day the report is not filed, not to exceed $300. MCL 169.224(1). A person 
failing to file a statement of organization after 30 days is guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by 
a fine of up to $1,000. Id.  
   
By statutory definition, a committee is formed when “a person receives contributions or makes 
expenditures for the purpose of influencing or attempting to influence the action of the voters for 
or against [candidate, ballot question, etc.] if contributions received total $500.00 or more in a 
calendar year or expenditures made total $500.00 or more in a calendar year.” MCL 169.203(4). 
For purposes of determining whether a committee exists, the word “person” includes “a group of 
persons acting jointly.” 169.211(2).   
 
The MCFA requires that candidates and committees record the full name, street address, amount 
contributed, and date of contribution for each individual from whom contributions are received. 
MCL 169.226(1)(e). Further, if the individual’s cumulative contributions are more than $100.00, 
the candidate or committee must also report the individual’s occupation, employer, and principal 
place of business. Id. For each person other than an individual, candidates and committees need 
not include the additional employment information but must provide all other contributor 
information previously listed. MCL 169.226(1)(g).   
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The MCFA requires ballot question committees to file contributions and expenditures with the 
appropriate filing official by specific dates. MCL 169.234(1) – (3). A treasurer who knowingly 
omits or underreports expenditures required to be disclosed by the Act is subject to a civil fine of 
not more than $1,000 or the amount of the expenditures omitted or underreported, whichever is 
greater. MCL 169.234(7).  
 

The purpose of this letter is to inform you of the Department’s examination of these matters and 
your right to respond to the allegations before the Department proceeds further. It is important to 
understand that the Department is neither making this complaint nor accepting the allegations as 
true. The investigation and resolution of this complaint is governed by section 15 of the Act and 
the corresponding administrative rules, R 169.51 et seq. An explanation of the process is 
included in the enclosed guidebook. 
 
If you wish to file a written response to this complaint, you are required to do so within 15 

business days of the date of this letter. Your response may include any written statement or 
additional documentary evidence you wish to submit. Materials may be emailed to 
BOERegulatory@michigan.gov or mailed to the Department of State, Bureau of Elections, 
Richard H. Austin Building, 1st Floor, 430 West Allegan Street, Lansing, Michigan 48918. If you 
fail to submit a response, the Department will render a decision based on the evidence furnished 
by the complainant. 
 
A copy of your answer will be provided to Mr. Schonert, who will have an opportunity to submit 
a rebuttal statement to the Department. After reviewing the statements and materials provided by 
the parties, the Department will determine whether “there may be reason to believe that a 
violation of [the MCFA] has occurred [.]” MCL 169.215(10). Note that the Department’s 
enforcement powers include the possibility of entering a conciliation agreement, conducting an 
administrative hearing, or referring this matter to the Attorney General for enforcement. 
 
If you have any questions concerning this matter, you may contact the Regulatory Section of the 
Bureau of Elections at BOERegulatory@Michigan.gov. 
  

Sincerely, 
 

Regulatory Section 
                                                                                                Bureau of Elections 
                                                                                                Michigan Department of State 
Enclosure 
c: Matthew Schonert 

mailto:BOERegulatory@Michigan.gov






























 

 
MICHIGAN BUREAU OF  ELECTIONS  

RICHARD H .  AUSTIN BUILDING ●  1ST FLOOR ●  430  W.  ALLEGAN ●  LANSING,  MICHIGAN 48918  
Mi ch i gan .gov/E le ct i ons  ●  (517)  335-3234  

March 20, 2023 
Matthew Schonert  
22050 Boulder Avenue 
Eastpointe, MI 48021       
 
Via email 
 
Re: Schonert v. Moving Macomb Forward 

Campaign Finance Complaint No. 23-006 

 
Dear Mr. Schonert: 
 
The Department of State received a response from Moving Macomb Forward to the complaint 
you filed against them alleging a violation of the Michigan Campaign Finance Act, 1976 P.A. 
388, MCL 169.201 et seq. A copy of the response is provided as an enclosure with this letter. 
 
You may file a rebuttal statement after reviewing the enclosed response. If you elect to file a 
rebuttal statement, you are required to do so within 10 business days of the date of this letter. The 
rebuttal statement may be emailed to BOERegulatory@Michigan.gov or mailed to the 
Department of State, Bureau of Elections, Richard H. Austin Building, 1st Floor, 430 West 
Allegan Street, Lansing, Michigan 48918.  
  
 

Sincerely, 
 
Regulatory Section 

                                                                                                Bureau of Elections 
                                                                                                Michigan Department of State 

 
 
c: Moving Macomb Forward 
 
 
 

mailto:BOERegulatory@Michigan.gov


 

 

MICHIGAN BUREAU  OF ELECTIONS 
R ICHARD H.  AUSTIN BUILDING ●  1ST FLOOR  ●  430  W. ALLEGAN ●  LANSING,  MICHIGAN 48918 

M i chigan .gov /E lec t i ons  ●  ( 517)  335-3234 

May 3, 2023 

W. Alan Wilk   

Dykema Gossett PLLC   

Counsel for Macomb Moving Forward   

Capitol View   

201 Townsend Street, Suite 900   

Lansing, MI 48933   

 

Via email        

 

Re: Schonert v. Moving Macomb Forward 

Campaign Finance Complaint No. 23-006 

 

Dear Mr. Wilk: 

 

The Department of State (Department) has finished investigating the campaign finance 

complaint filed against your clients by Matthew Schonert alleging that they violated the 

Michigan Campaign Finance Act (MCFA or Act). This letter concerns the disposition of that 

complaint. 

 

Specifically, the complaint alleges that your clients either sent election materials out from a 

dissolved committee or that they failed to form a committee. Regardless of the circumstances, 

the complaint alleges that they then failed to file the campaign finance reports required of a 

committee. 

 

You responded to the complaint in a letter dated March 14, 2023. In your response, you claimed 

that your firm represents the ballot question committee currently named Macomb Moving 

Forward, but that was originally named Moving Macomb Forward (MMF). You acknowledged 

that the name revision could be confusing, and that “its ‘paid for by’ statement on the two 

mailings identified by Mr. Schonert would have been better if it had used the amended name 

‘Macomb Moving Forward’ as opposed to the original committee name of ‘Moving Macomb 

Forward.’”  

 

Nonetheless, you argue that MMF is a properly registered ballot question committee and has 

timely filed its contribution and expenditure reports. You further indicate that MMF filed its 

original Statement of Organization with the Macomb County Clerk on October 11, 2022, and its 

amended Statement of Organization, in which it amended its name, on October 12, 2022.  
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While you acknowledged that the mailers use the Moving Macomb Forward rather than the 

Macomb Moving Forward name in its “paid for by” statement, you argued that it was an 

“unintentional printing mistake”, that the mailers were paid for by MMF, and that MMF’s pre-

election report shows the payments for those mailers.  

 

In a letter dated March 20, 2023, Mr. Schonert was provided the opportunity to submit a rebuttal 

statement. To date, no rebuttal has been received.  

 

The Department has reviewed the evidence submitted in this matter and finds that insufficient 

evidence has been presented to support a finding of a potential violation of the MCFA. While 

MMF indicated in its “paid for by” statement that its name was Moving Macomb Forward rather 

than Macomb Moving Forward, the Department accepts that this was a printing error, that MMF 

formed a committee as required, and that MMF appears to have filed all required reports.  

 

Because the violation of the MCFA alleged in the complaint has not been substantiated by  

sufficient evidence, the Department dismisses the complaint and will take no further enforcement 

action. If you have any questions concerning this matter, you may contact me at 

BOERegulatory@Michigan.gov.  

  

 

Sincerely, 

        

 

 

       Jenny McInerney, Regulatory Attorney 

Regulatory Section 

       Bureau of Elections 

       Michigan Department of State 

c: Matthew Schonert 

mailto:BOERegulatory@Michigan.gov
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